THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
Workers' Compensation Commission

Appellate Case No.: 2018-001249

Sarah Folston, Claimant, Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs, Employer, and
SC State Accident Fund, Carrier, Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED
OCT 29 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Stephen B. Samuels
SAMUELS LAW FIRM, LLC
1320 Richland Street
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 779-4000
stephen@samuelslawfirm.net

Attorney for Appellant

ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Single Commissioner erred as a matter of fact and law in failing to find Claimant permanently and totally disabled?
2. Whether the Single Commissioner erred as a matter of fact and law in giving any weight to Defendants' vocational expert when her opinion was based on speculation and did not meet the legal standards required for an expert opinion?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This hearing was set on Forms 21 and 22 following an unsuccessful mediation. The case involves admitted injuries to the right hip, right elbow, and back (“Upon further discovery and medical evaluation including a lumbar MRI, it was determined that Claimant had injured her back causing sciatic pain into her right leg.”).

The issues to be decided were:

1. Extent of Permanent Disability. Claimant contends she is permanently and totally disabled under § 42-9-10. Defendants contend Claimant is partially disabled under § 42-9-30.
2. Post-MMI medical treatment. Claimant requires ongoing medication and pain management. Defendants stipulated that Claimant requires ongoing treatment from Dr. Hutcheson.
3. Lump sum award with James allocation.
4. Payment of assault leave (180 days per S.C. Code Ann. § 8-11-40 (2007)).

The case was tried on February 15, 2017. The Single Commissioner issued an Order on October 6, 2017 with the following findings of fact:

1. Claimant is at MMI for her admitted work-related injuries as of November 12, 2015.
2. Based on a preponderance of the evidence, including video evidence of the Claimant and the Claimant's hearing testimony, I hereby find Claimant is entitled to an award of permanent partial disability.
3. I find that Claimant has sustained a permanent partial disability of twenty percent (20%) to the back.
4. Claimant is entitled to all causally-related future medical treatment for her back, as recommended by Dr. Hutcheson. At the hearing before the single Commissioner, Defendants stipulated to Claimant returning to Dr. Hutcheson for pain management treatment as set forth in Dr. LaMotta's November 20, 2016 medical report as part of her future medical care.

5. Claimant is entitled to a lump sum award.
6. Defendants are entitled to a credit for overpayment of temporary total disability from the date of the Form 21.
7. Claimant's request for assault leave pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §8-11-40, is hereby denied as the commission lacks jurisdiction over this issue.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This is an admitted injury by accident. Sarah Folston was employed with South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs (SCDSN). On March 22, 2011, Folston was attacked by a patient and knocked to the floor. She injured her right arm, right hip, and back.

DSN accepted her case and provided treatment through First Care until October 18, 2011. At that time, she underwent an MRI of the hip (not the back). Apparently based on the MRI, the doctor released her to regular duty on October 18, 2011 – despite ongoing complaints of continued pain radiating down her leg from her back and hip.

Folston continued to work. As her symptoms worsened, DSN began authorizing treatment through Doctors Express. She consistently complained of radiating back pain – and was diagnosed and treated for sciatica. She was treated from September 25, 2012 through February 11, 2013. DSN had refused to provide treatment since that date without explanation.

During this time, DSN provided light duty work within her restrictions. On November 26, 2012, DSN laid her off based on her being under restrictions for 180 days.

On November 27, 2012, DSN began paying temporary total disability. Folston has remained disabled and out of work since that date.

On May 7, 2013, Folston was evaluated by Dr. Steven Poletti. Dr. Poletti diagnosed her with lumbar radiculopathy clinically. He opined she is not at MMI, and cannot be placed at MMI or

definitively diagnosed until she has a lumbar MRI.

Claimant filed a Form 50 seeking additional medical treatment. The parties entered into a Consent Order on January 3, 2014, providing for Dr. Ivan Lamotta to be the authorized treating physician.

Dr. Lamotta treated Folston from October 24, 2013 until November 12, 2015 when Dr. Lamotta placed her at MMI. Dr. Lamotta assigned a 5% whole person impairment with permanent sedentary restrictions. He opined she would require “repeat orthopedic visits, repeat therapy, and repeat injections.” [APA page 113]. Notably, Dr. Lamotta stated in his October 16, 2015 report: “She may be considered for a minimally invasive decompression and fusion of L5-S1.” [APA page 110].

At Dr. Lamotta’s referral, Folston also treated with Dr. Justin Hutcheson at the Center for Advanced Management of Pain from December 30, 2014 through July 15, 2015. Dr. Hutcheson considered a spinal cord stimulator as Folston received little relief from injections. He ultimately referred her back to Dr. Lamotta for potential surgery.

Folston underwent an FCE on February 17, 2016. She gave a consistent effort. The FCE showed she was restricted to “limited sedentary to limited light work.” Her impairment rating was 13% whole person.

Folston was reevaluated by Dr. Poletti on March 7, 2016. Dr. Poletti opined:

Currently with regards to her radiculopathy, she has significant signs of radiculopathy such as dermatomal distribution sensory loss and loss of relevant reflexes with a herniated disc at the level and on the side that would be expected from the objective clinical findings.

Dr. Poletti assigned a 13% whole person impairment rating for her back along with an

additional 2% to the right lower extremity. He also noted should she undergo surgery (which he considered an option), her rating would be 28%. He recommended she continue in pain management with Dr. Hutcheson.

Regarding restrictions, Dr. Poletti agree with Dr. Lamotta that Folston “has a sedentary status. She should not be doing any kind of bending, twisting, pushing, pulling, heavy repetitive lifting, or lifting greater than 15-20 pounds.” He noted “she has difficult rising from a sitting position.” His opinion was “that she is potentially a candidate to pursue Social Security disability as she has a sedentary status and at this point is not capable of sitting for extended period of time longer than 30 minutes.”

Folston received a vocational evaluation from Glen Adams on February 26, 2106. Mr. Adams opined:

A transferable skills analysis was conducted using OASYS to identify potential transferable occupations compatible with a “sedentary” work status. No relevant occupations were identified through this analysis. Ms. Folston’s residual labor market is defined by any remaining jobs within the “Office & Administrative Support” industry designation. Based on a review of several thousand jobs within the previous 6 months, no suitable occupational goals remain for Ms. Folston given her age, education, work history and other factors outlined in this report. Jobs within this industry require a combination of work experience, education, and computer skills that Ms. Folston does not possess. Many of these jobs require knowledge and experience in the use of Microsoft Word, Excel and other Office programs, as well as other task specific programs such as QuickBooks. Therefore, no stable labor market remains for Ms. Folston working in a “sedentary” work capacity. She has incurred a total loss of access to the competitive labor market. Ms. Folston is classified as **totally vocationally disabled** as a result of injuries sustained on March 3, 2011 while working for the S.C. Department of Disabilities and Special Needs. [APA page (emphasis in original)].

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A court may reverse or modify the Commission's decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions or decisions are affected by other error of law. Broughton v. South of the Border, 336 S.C. 488, 520 S.E.2d 634, 637 (Ct. App. 1999). Upon a proper appeal under the Worker's Compensation Act when only a question of law is involved, the facts having been concluded by the finding of the Commission, the appellate court as to review and correction of errors has plenary powers. Jolly v. Atlantic Greyhound Corp. 207 S.C. 1, 35 S.E.2d 42 (1945).

The evidence will ordinarily be regarded as sufficient where the circumstances shown tend to establish the ultimate facts in issue and provide a basis from which they reasonably may be inferred. An award cannot, however, be based upon mere possibilities, probabilities, surmises or conjectures. Broughton v. South Carolina Game and Fish Dept., 219 S.C. 50, 64 S.E.2d 152 (1951). Findings must be made on competent evidence in the record. An incompetent expert opinion should not be admitted into the record or relied upon. Michau v. Georgetown Cnty., 396 S.C. 589, 723 S.E.2d 805 (2012). A disability finding based on speculation should be reversed by the appellate courts. Hutson v. S.C. State Ports Authority, 399 S.C. 381, 732 S.E.2d 500 (2012).

ARGUMENT

1. The competent evidence shows Claimant is Permanently and Totally Disabled under § 42-9-10.

The Commission never addressed the issues raised on permanent and total disability under § 42-9-10. The award of 20% partial disability to the back was made under § 42-9-30.

As an award under § 42-9-10 would be larger than the single member award made by the Single Commissioner and Appellate Panel, the Court should reverse and apply the codes section which would result in the greatest possible disability award. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10 (2007)(setting out requirements for general disability).

The Commission is required to apply whichever statute provides the greatest benefits for the Claimant. The policy behind the general disability portion of the act provides the claimant with the opportunity to establish a disability greater than the presumptive disability provided for under the scheduled member section. See Brown v. Owen Steel Co., 316 S.C. 278, 280, 450 S.E.2d 57, 58 (Ct.App.1994). This concept is practically identical to North Carolina's *Doctrine of Munificent Remedy*. It would defeat the purposes of the Act to deny a Claimant the opportunity to establish a greater disability than he would receive under the scheduled member statute.

Under the Doctrine, "where two remedies are created side by side in a statute, the Claimant should have the benefit of the more favorable." Gupton v. Builders Transport, 357 S.E.2d 674 (N.C. 1987), quoting 2 A. Larson, *The Law of Workmen's Compensation* Sec. 58.25 (1987). In other words, where a claimant has established entitlement to a greater award under § 42-9-10 or 42-9-20 than he would receive under a scheduled member award, the Commission is required to make the most favorable award. See McLean v. Eaton Corp., 481 S.E.2d 289 (N.C. App. 1997)(error for

Commission to award partial permanent disability under scheduled injury statute without assessing whether or not the lost income statute would provide a more munificent remedy).

If interpreted under the Brown framework, Folston would be entitled to an award for total disability under § 42-9-10. The Single Commissioner erred by failing to consider an award under § 42-9-10.

Per previous Consent Order, Folston has suffered injuries to her right hip, right elbow, and back. The Consent Order also provides “Upon further discovery and medical evaluation including a lumbar MRI, it was determined that Claimant had injured her back causing sciatic pain into her right leg.” Both Dr. LaMotta and Dr. Poletti diagnosed Folston with L5 radiculopathy. She therefore satisfies the two-body part rule. Hutson v. S.C. State Ports Authority, 399 S.C. 381, 732 S.E.2d 500 (2012)(affirming Court of Appeals holding that radiculopathy into a leg satisfies the two body part rule).

The two orthopaedic surgeons who evaluated Folston, Dr. LaMotta and Dr. Poletti, placed her on sedentary restrictions. An FCE by Columbia Rehabilitation put her capacity at limited sedentary to limited light (meaning she cannot actually function at the full range of sedentary duties).¹

There were two vocational evaluations done. Glenn Adams tested Folston’s reading, writing, spelling and arithmetic skills. She reads at a 4th grade level and performs arithmetic at a 5th grade level. She cannot use a computer and has no transferable skills from her prior employment as a resident aide, kitchen helper and massage therapist. Adams concluded:

¹Defendants obtained a second FCE from CORA. Neither of the vocational experts considered or relied on the second FCE.

Therefore, no stable labor market remains for Ms. Folston working in a “sedentary” work capacity. She has incurred a total loss of access to the competitive labor market. Ms. Folston is classified as **totally vocationally disabled** as a result of injuries sustained on March 3, 2011 while working for the S.C. Department of Disabilities and Special Needs. [(emphasis in original)].

Respondents obtained a vocational evaluation from Jacqueline Kennedy-Merritt. Kennedy-Merritt is employed by the Directions Group. The Directions Group is a company providing cost savings to workers’ compensation insurance companies through utilization reviews, nurse case managers, and vocational experts. Merritt testified that (1) of the 60-90 vocational reports she has written in workers’ compensation cases in her career, there is only “one report that I’ve written in regards to the individual not being able to maintain or sustain competitive employment;” (2) 100% of her workers’ comp vocational evaluations in the past year were for the employer; and (3) she only found seven potential jobs that Folston could perform.

Folston called all seven potential employers and testified none were interested in hiring her. Kennedy-Merritt testified she did not speak to any actual employers regarding whether they would hire Folston nor did she provide actual job descriptions. On further questioning about the seven specific jobs, Kennedy-Merritt admitted: (1) two of the jobs were not in the local area (Easley and Orangeburg); (2) one listing was with a job assistance agency (not an actual employer); (3) the job at Republic Parking was part-time (and per the DOT classification, outside of Folston’s restrictions); (4) the appointment setter job was part-time (and required HVAC knowledge and extensive walking outside Folston’s ability); (5) the job monitoring student athletes’ class attendance was part-time and required extensive walking; and (6) the mortgage processor job was a trainee position – for which Kennedy-Merritt failed to list the job requirements or qualifications. In short, none of these jobs were viable options for Folston, who is an older individual with no transferable skills whose

reading skills are in the bottom 3% of the population.

The test for permanent and total disability is whether the employee is unable to perform services other than those that are “so limited in quality, dependability, or quantity that a reasonable stable market for them does not exist.” See, e.g. Wynn v. Peoples Natural Gas Co., 238 S.C. 1, 118 S.E.2d 812 (1961). In answering this question, the Commission can rely on expert vocational testimony – provided the vocational expert’s opinion is founded on the physical limitations established by the doctors. See Stephenson v. Rice Servs., Inc., 323 S.C. 113, 116, 473 S.E.2d 699, 700 (1996)(The ability to perform limited tasks for which no stable job market exists does not prevent an employee from proving total disability). Cf. Young v. Tide Craft, 270 S.C. 453, 468, 242 S.E.2d 671, 678 (1978) (“It is, of course, elementary that the factual or underlying basis for the expert's opinion be set out, otherwise the opinion lacks probative value.”).

In this case, there are differing vocational opinions. Glen Adams opined to a reasonable degree of vocational certainty that Folston is “Ms. Folston is classified as **totally vocationally disabled.**” His opinion meets the legal standard to be a probative expert opinion. Conversely, Kennedy-Merritt’s opinion is fundamentally flawed because she based her opinion on *possibilities* rather than *probabilities*. See Windham v. City of Florence, 221 S.C. 350, 70 S.E.2d 553 (1952)(it is not sufficient for an expert to say “possibly” or “might have” as experts have to go further and testify at least that the result in question must be stated “most probably.”). Kennedy-Merritt testified: