IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA  
Workers' Compensation Commission

Appellate Case No: 2018-001249

**RECEIVED**  
APR 04 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

Sarah Folston, Claimant,.....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs, Employer, and South Carolina  
State Accident Fund, Carrier,.....Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

Erin F. Farthing  
South Carolina State Accident Fund  
PO Box 102100  
Columbia, SC 29221  
(803) 896-5892  
efarthing@saf.sc.gov

Attorney for Respondents

**

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

Dr. Devin Troyer conducted the EMG/NCS on May 5, 2014. (R. p. 167) It was a normal study with no evidence of peripheral nerve impingement, peripheral polyneuropathy, or radiculopathy on needle exam of the tested right lower extremity. (R. p. 168) Dr. Troyer further opined, "the axonopathy seen in the foot FDI may be more due to local trauma with obesity and swelling." (R. p. 168)

On May 29, 2014, after reviewing the CT myelogram, Dr. LaMotta noted that, based on her complaints of pain, Appellant was at a mild to moderate pain category. (R. p. 151) He indicated that Appellant was "not truly interested in surgery because her condition is not severe enough to warrant surgical intervention." (R. p. 151) Dr. LaMotta agreed with Appellant's opinion, and further opined that, if Appellant's "condition were to significantly worsen, she may be a candidate for decompression and fusion of the L5-S1 segment." (R. p. 151) In the meantime, Dr. LaMotta referred Appellant to pain management. (R. p. 151)

Appellant first treated with Dr. Justin Hutcheson on December 30, 2014. (R. p. 169) Dr.

Hutcheson noted Appellant's lack of relief from the midline ESI, and recommended a right L5 selective nerve root block. (R. p. 171) The selective nerve root block/transforaminal epidural steroid injection was administered on February 27, 2015. (R. p. 174) Appellant noted a decrease in pain following the injection. (R. p. 174)

Appellant returned to Dr. Hutcheson on March 11, 2015, at which time Dr. Hutcheson noted Appellant had greater than 50% relief of her back and right lower extremity pain following the selective nerve root block. (R. pp. 177-178) Dr. Hutcheson recommended a second selective nerve root block. (R. p. 178) The second elective nerve root block/transforaminal epidural steroid injection was performed on April 7, 2015. (R. p. 179) Appellant noted a decrease in pain following the injection. (R. p. 179)

Appellant testified that she delivered a sermon at her son Fred's church<sup>2</sup> on May 5, 2015, which was videotaped and put on Facebook. Appellant testified at the hearing that her condition at the time she gave the sermon was the same as her current condition as of the hearing, but claimed that she had received "a shot" from Dr. Hutcheson a little before that.<sup>3</sup> (R. p. 484 lines 23-25; p. 485, lines 1-6) Appellant found out later that the video from her sermon was placed on Facebook. (R. p. 485, lines 11-13) Appellant identified a picture of her delivering that sermon as well as the Facebook video of her delivering the sermon, which was played for Appellant and the Hearing Commissioner. (R. p. 485, lines 14-24) Appellant testified "that day [she] was feeling particularly good" and that she thought "that was one of the best days [she] ever felt." (R. p. 485, lines 24-25; p. 52, lines 2-3) The Facebook video, which was about a minute and a

---

<sup>2</sup>Appellant testified that her son, Fred, is a pastor at a church and that she attends his church on Wednesdays and Sundays. (R. p. 457, lines 13-16) She testified that her injury presents limitations to her participation in church activities as she cannot sit or stand for long. (R. p. 457, lines 17-24) She is a church mother at his church. (R. p. 483, lines 23-25) In that position, she helps with dealing with the young ladies about how to carry themselves and how to be good wives and good mothers. (R. p. 484, lines 1-5) That is not a paid position. (R. p. 484, lines 13-14)

<sup>3</sup> This appears to be the selective nerve root block/transforaminal epidural steroid injection that was performed on April 7, 2015.

half long, showed Appellant continually moving back and forth with ease while delivering a sermon in church. (R. Enclosed CD) Appellant testified that she does not remember how long her sermon was. (R. p. 486, lines 21-25; p. 487, lines 1-11)<sup>4</sup>

Appellant returned to Dr. Hutcheson on May 8, 2015, at which time Appellant noted that she had only one week of relief following the second selective nerve root block.<sup>5</sup> (R. p. 182) Dr. Hutcheson recommended another selective nerve root block, adding the L4 level. (R. pp. 183-184) Dr. Hutcheson's medical report from July 14, 2015 reflects that Appellant advised Dr. Hutcheson that she only had temporary relief from the selective nerve root block and did not want any more injections. (R. p. 186) She advised that she was ready to return to Dr. LaMotta for surgical options. (R. p. 186) Therefore, Dr. Hutcheson noted that he was referring Appellant back to Dr. LaMotta per her request. (R. p. 187)

Appellant returned to Dr. LaMotta on August 27, 2015. (R. p. 152) She advised Dr. LaMotta that injection therapy had not been helping, and that she was hurting more than the year prior. (R. p. 152) She noted pain in the lumbar spine, to the buttocks, and shooting down the right leg. (R. p. 152) Dr. LaMotta opined that Appellant's signs and symptoms were consistent with nerve impingement. (R. p. 153) Dr. LaMotta recommended Appellant for an MRI examination of the lumbar spine. (R. p. 153)

On October 1, 2015, based on the results of the MRI, Dr. LaMotta again opined that Appellant would benefit from nonoperative treatment and recommended her for a course of physical therapy. (R. pp. 155-156) On November 12, 2015, Appellant noted that she had no major improvement with physical therapy. (R. p. 158) At that time, Dr. LaMotta placed

---

<sup>4</sup> The video was removed from her son's Facebook page prior to the hearing. Appellant testified that she does not know why the video was removed. (R. p. 487, lines 18-22)

<sup>5</sup> It appears based on Appellant's medical records that the relief afforded by the April 7 injection wore off almost three weeks prior to the date Appellant delivered the sermon at her son's church.

Appellant at maximum medical improvement. (R. p. 159) Based on the American Medical Association Guides for the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, 5<sup>th</sup> Edition, he assigned a 5% whole person impairment rating and a regional impairment rating of 7% for the lumbar spine. (R. p. 159) He opined that Appellant's future medical care included repeat orthopedic visits, repeat therapy and repeat injections. (R. p. 159) Dr. LaMotta noted that he did not see any surgical indications for Appellant at that time based on the severity of her symptom etiology. (R. p. 159) He further stated that he did "not see any contraindications for [Appellant] to participate in sedentary duties."<sup>6</sup> (R. p. 159)

Appellant returned to Dr. LaMotta on November 10, 2016. (R. p. 160) Appellant testified that she did not have any treatment for her work injuries between when Dr. LaMotta placed her at MMI in November 2015 and when she returned to Dr. LaMotta in November 2016. (R. p. 476, lines 11-17) She testified that she discovered she had additional medical options after she talked to her attorney. (R. p. 476, lines 21-22) Dr. LaMotta again opined that surgery was not indicated for Appellant, and further opined that her pain was due to nerve irritation. (R. p. 161) Dr. LaMotta referred her to Dr. Hutcheson for pain management, and again indicated that there were "no contraindications for her to return to work with sedentary-duty lifting restrictions." (R. p. 161)

In addition to her authorized treatment, Appellant's counsel sent Appellant for two evaluations with Dr. Poletti with Southeastern Spine Institute in Charleston. After Appellant was released from Doctors Express for her work injuries in February 2013, Appellant was seen for an independent medical evaluation with Dr. Steven Poletti on May 7, 2013. (R. p. 338) Dr. Poletti opined that Appellant's symptoms were consistent with lumbar radiculopathy. (R. p. 338) Dr. Poletti further opined that this was likely secondary to a disc protrusion in Appellant's lumbar

---

<sup>6</sup> Dr. LaMotta did not set forth a basis for these restrictions.

spine. (R. p. 338)

Despite the fact that Appellant agreed to Dr. LaMotta as the authorized treating physician in a Consent Order dated January 3, 2014, Appellant returned to Dr. Poletti for a second independent medical examination on March 7, 2016. (R. p. 339) Dr. Poletti noted that Appellant has received “comprehensive nonoperative care” since he had last seen her. (R. p. 340) Dr. Poletti noted Appellant’s diagnosis of lumbar radiculopathy secondary to a foraminal disc herniation at the L5-S1 level. (R. p. 340) He assigned a 13% impairment rating based on the AMA Guides, 5<sup>th</sup> Edition, and noted that the impairment rating would increase to 28% to the whole person should she undergo a minimally invasive decompression and fusion as noted in Dr. LaMotta’s October 2015 medical note. (R. p. 340) Dr. Poletti further opined that Appellant had an additional 2% whole person rating due to radiating pain in her right leg. (R. p. 341) He additionally opined that Appellant had two options for future treatment: continued conservative care with Dr. Hutcherson or surgical intervention. (R. p. 341) Dr. Poletti agreed that Appellant had a sedentary work status. (R. p. 339)

With regard to her two evaluations with Dr. Poletti, Appellant testified that she saw him at his office in Charleston. (R. p. 488, lines 1-4) The first time she went for an evaluation her son drove her, and the second time a company drove her. (R. p. 488, lines 6-7) The drive took about an hour and a half, and she thinks she took two breaks during the drive. (R. p. 488, lines 8-14) Appellant testified that she was in pain when she arrived at Dr. Poletti’s office. (R. p. 488, lines 15-18) Dr. Poletti did not provide any actual treatment, but rather just did evaluations. (R. p. 488, lines 19-21)

Appellant was referred for two vocational assessments. Appellant’s counsel referred Appellant for a vocational assessment with Glen K. Adams on May 12 2016. (R. pp. 365-372)

Mr. Adams noted Appellant's complaints, medical history, employment history, educational history, and skills and further noted that Appellant "expressed no plans to resume employment." (R. p. 365-369) Mr. Adams opined that Appellant had "incurred a total loss of access to the competitive labor market." (R. p. 372) He further opined that Appellant was "classified as **totally vocationally disabled** as a result of injuries sustained on March 3, 2011 while working for the S.C. Department of Disabilities and Special Needs." (R. p. 372- emphasis in original)

Respondents referred Appellant for an employability analysis and labor market survey with Jacqueline Kennedy-Merritt on June 29, 2016. (R. pp. 190-202) Ms. Kennedy-Merritt also took note of Appellant's complaints, medical history, employment history, educational history, and skills. (R. pp. 190-202) Upon review of the medical documentation provided to her by Respondents and by Appellant, "conducting the face to face vocational evaluation, the employability analysis, the labor market review and published data" Ms. Kennedy-Merritt expressed her "professional vocational opinion that there are appropriate positions that exist within the local labor market that [Appellant] can participate in." (R. p. 201) She noted that her opinions were "rendered with a reasonable degree of professional vocational certainty and are based upon information obtained from [her] review of all documentation and information provided with regard to" Appellant. (R. p. 202)

Appellant testified that she would like to work. (R. p. 479, line 21) She testified that she did not know how to contact Vocational Rehabilitation or Department of Education and Work Force to see if they had any training or jobs that they could recommend for her. (R. p. 479, lines 22-25; p. 480, lines 1-2) Appellant testified that she did apply to some of the jobs listed in Ms. Kennedy-Merritt's report. (R. p. 481, lines 2-4) She testified that, if any of the employers that Ms. Kennedy-Merritt had suggested would have hired her, she would have tried to do those jobs.

(R. p. 474, lines 10-13) Appellant testified that she has not tried to search for or obtain any kind of help in finding jobs that she might be able to do that are within her restrictions. (R. p. 480, lines 20-24) She does not know if she is capable of returning to work in any capacity. (R. p. 481, lines 5-7) She enjoyed working as a masseuse, but does not believe she can still do massage. (R. p. 481, lines 18-25; p. 482, line 1) However, she testified that her massage license was set to expire in June 2016, but she renewed it. (R. p. 482, lines 6-11)

Appellant also had two functional capacity evaluations. Appellant's attorney referred Appellant for a functional capacity evaluation at Columbia Rehabilitation Clinic, Inc. on February 17, 2016. (R. p. 343) Ms. Hill opined Appellant qualified for limited sedentary to limited light work. (R. p. 344)

Respondents referred Appellant for a functional capacity evaluation with CORA Rehabilitation on September 29, 2016. (R. pp. 203-227) At the conclusion of that FCE, Randi Scherer, DPT, noted that Appellant "demonstrated self-limiting behaviors, with subjective fear of increased pain" and further noted that "[a]ppropriate physiological/biomechanical responses... were not noted during lifting tasks." (R. p. 203) Ms. Scherer opined that, "[d]espite self-limiting behaviors, and fear of pain with material handling" Appellant was able to function during the FCE at the light physical demand category. (R. p. 203) Ms. Scherer noted her belief, based on the behaviors demonstrated by Appellant that she was capable of functioning at higher levels than indicated within the FCE. (R. p. 203)

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act establishes the “substantial evidence” standard of review for decisions by the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission and other state agencies. *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 133-134, 276 S.E. 2d 304, 307 (1981). Under this standard, the Court of Appeals’ review “is limited to deciding whether the appellate panel’s decision is unsupported by substantial evidence or is controlled by some error of law.” *Gadson v. Mikasa Corp.*, 368 S.C. 214, 221, 628 S.E. 2d 262, 266 (Ct. App. 2006) (citing S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380). “The commission’s decision **must** be affirmed if the factual findings are supported by substantial evidence in the record.” *Jennings v. Chambers Dev. Co.*, 335 S.C. 249, 259, 516 S.E.2d 453, 458 (Ct. App. 1999) (quoting *Minor v. Philips Prods.* 329 S.C. 321, 493 S.E.2d 819 (1997)) (emphasis added).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has defined “substantial evidence” as “evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the administrative agency reached.” *Lark*, 276 S.C. at 135, 276 S.E.2d at 206 (quoting *Laws v. Richland Cnty School Dist. No. 1*, 270 S.C. 492, 243 S.E.2d 192 (1978)). “[T]he possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent an administrative agency’s finding from being supported by substantial evidence.” *Palmetto Alliance, Inc. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm’n*, 282 S.C. 430, 319 S.E. 2nd 695, 696 (1984). Therefore, even if the Court of Appeals disagrees with the decision of the Full Commission, the Court of Appeals must, nonetheless, affirm if the decision is supported by substantial evidence. *Jennings*, 335 S.C. at 516 S.E.2d at 438.

## ARGUMENT

1. **The evidence in the record supports the Commission's finding that Appellant sustained permanent partial disability to the back only under S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-30 and Appellant is not entitled to a finding that she is permanently and totally disabled under S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-10**

The Respondents contend that the Worker's Compensation Commission's finding that Appellant sustained a 20% permanent partial disability to her back is fully supported by substantial evidence and should be affirmed. Further, as the Commission found that Appellant only sustained permanent disability to one body part, and further found that Appellant's disability to her back was less than 50%, the Commission properly did not make a finding that Appellant is permanently and totally disabled under S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-10.

Appellant claims in her brief that she was denied "the opportunity to establish a greater disability than [she] would receive under the scheduled member statute." She further appears to argue that she should have been awarded disability under the general disability statute rather than the scheduled member statute because it is the greater of the two. She notes the sedentary restrictions recommended by Dr. LaMotta and Dr. Poletti, her low scores on Glenn Adams' skills testing, and limited work history. However, Appellant failed to establish that she is entitled to a finding of permanent and total disability under §42-9-10 for the reasons set forth below. Further, even if evidence in the record supports Claimant's contention that she is permanently and totally disabled, the issue for the Court to consider is whether the Commission's decision is supported by substantial evidence. Critically, Appellant has failed to establish that substantial evidence does not support the decision of the Commission that she sustained a permanent partial disability to her back under §42-9-30.

In the present case, Appellant was permitted to present a claim under §42-9-10 in order to try to establish a right to recovery beyond that permitted under §42-9-30; however, the

Commission was not required to award her permanent and total disability under §42-9-10. It is the burden of a claimant to provide that he/she is permanently and totally disabled pursuant to §42-9-10. *Coleman v. Quality Concrete Products, Inc.*, 245 S.C. 625, 630, 142 S.E. 2nd 43, 45 (1965). Further, Appellant's ability to recover under §42-9-10 required her to establish an additional injury or impairment to at least two body parts. The Supreme Court in *Singleton v. Young Lumber Co.*, 236 S.C. 454, 114 S.E.2d 837 (1960) held that:

Where the injury is confined to the scheduled member, and there is no impairment of any other part of the body because of such injury, the employee is limited to the scheduled compensation, **even though** other considerations such as age, lack of training, or other conditions peculiar to the individual, effect a total or partial industrial incapacity. To obtain compensation in addition to that scheduled for the injured member, claimant must show that some other part of his body is affected. *Singleton*, 236 S.C. at 471, 114 S.E.2d at 845 (emphasis added).

The Court in *Wigfall v. Tideland Utilities, Inc.* expanded on that ruling when it specifically held, “The Singleton Court did not intend for the additional ‘impairment’ to be a loss of earning capacity, age, lack of training or any other economic factor.” *Wigfall v. Tideland Utilities, Inc.*, 354 S.C. 100, 580 S.E.2d 100 (2003)

In *Colonna v. Marlboro Park Hosp.*, the Court of Appeals considered what sort of injury is sufficient to satisfy the requirement for an additional injured body part. The Court found “that a more thorough reading of Singleton and subsequent cases demonstrates that a claimant must prove not only that another body part was affected ... but that another body part was impaired or injured for section 42-9-10 to apply.” *Colonna v. Marlboro Park Hosp.*, 404 S.C. 537, 745 S.E.2d 128 (Ct. App. 2013); see also *Bixby v. City of Charleston*, 300 S.C. 390, 397, 388 S.E.2d 258, 262 (Ct.App.1989) (analyzing whether the claimant's injury to a scheduled member “affected” another body part by analyzing whether the claimant “suffer[ed] a residual disability as a result” of the compensable injury).

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